#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY ROBINSON,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 5, 1985, the Spring Term Grand Jury in and for St. Johns County, Florida, returned a four-count indictment charging the Appellant, JOHNNY LEARTICE ROBINSON, with first-degree murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, and sexual battery.

(R1-2) An amended indictment was filed on May 6, 1985. (R10)

Appellant filed a motion in limine regarding testimony concerning a collateral crime. (R12-14) Appellant also filed a motion in limine regarding the suppression of testimony concerning the circumstances of his arrest. (R12-16)

Prior to jury selection, the Appellant and the State entered into a stipulation of facts which, in effect, resulted in the State agreeing to Appellant's motion in limine regarding evidence of the collateral crime. (R171-177) The State also agreed to Appellant's motion in limine regarding the circumstances surrounding his arrest.

Jury selection was conducted on May 27, 1986, before the Honorable Richard O. Watson, Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Johns County, Florida. (R178-389) During one portion of jury selection, the Appellant was absent from the courtroom. (R181-188) After the jury was sworn, the rule of sequestration of witnesses was invoked. (R386-393)

The trial court denied Appellant's request to prohibit the State from referring to Ms. St.George as a victim and from referring to the offense as a murder. (R393-394)

Prior to any testimony, the trial court warned counsel that all witnesses who might inadvertently mention an objectionable matter relating to the motions in limine should be cautioned prior to testifying. The prosecutor volunteered to make sure that this did not occur. (R177)

During the testimony of Charles West, a diagram was admitted over Appellant's objection. (R428-433) Mr. West also made reference in his testimony to a collateral burglary. Appellant's motion for mistrial based upon this testimony was subsequently denied. (R434-436,470-474)

Appellant's objection to the introduction of a photograph of a gun similar to the weapon used during the offense was sustained. (R435-436) Eventually, Appellant's objection to the photographs of the gun was overruled and the evidence was introduced. (R511)

A purse strap found at the scene of the crime was admitted into evidence over Appellant's timely and specific objection. (R449-450)

During the testimony of Deputy Glen Lightsey, Appellant objected to any mention of Bernard Fields, his co-perpetrator, based upon relevance. This objection was overruled. (R478-480)

Once it was determined that the victim's husband would not be called as a witness, the State excused Mr. St.George from his subpoena without objection. However, defense counsel did object to Mr. St.George remaining in the courtroom during the conclusion of the trial. (R488)

Defense counsel objected to the introduction of certain photographs of Appellant's automobile based upon relevance. This objection was overruled. (R510)

During the direct examination of Bernard Fields,

Appellant objected to Mr. Fields' answer to a question as being unresponsive. This objection was overruled and the answer was allowed to stand. (R513-514)

Defense counsel also objected to testimony regarding a statement by the Appellant to Charles West. This objection was overruled. (R535) Appellant's objection to a question propounded to Mr. West was also overruled. (R535-536)

Following the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal as to each of the four counts as well as the lesser included offenses in consecution based upon the failure of the State to establish a prima facie case. These motions were denied. (R547-554) Defense counsel also renewed his previous objections as well as his motions for mistrial. (R549-550) The Appellant presented no evidence at the guilt phase.

Appellant requested several special jury instructions on circumstantial evidence, intoxication, and excusable homicide. These requests were denied. (R554-564,700)

During final summation by the State, Appellant's objection to a portion of the argument was overruled. (R613-614) During final summation by defense counsel, the trial court, <u>sua sponte</u>, chastised Appellant's attorney in the presence of the jury. (R644) Additionally, the State's objection to a certain portion of Appellant's closing argument was sustained. (R654)

Following deliberation, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all four counts. (R75-78,701-702)

At the penalty phase, Appellant's request for an opening statement was denied. (R706) Appellant objected to the jury being instructed and to the State arguing certain aggravating circumstances for a variety of reasons. These objections were overruled. (R710-721) These objections were renewed prior to the actual jury instructions. (R796-797)

During the testimony of a psychologist, the only defense witness, the Appellant requested, through counsel, that he be excused from the courtroom. This request was granted.

(R754-757) During cross-examination, Appellant moved for a mistrial after the interjection of racism into a question.

(R787-789) This motion was denied. Prior to closing argument, the trial court advised the State not to argue Appellant's racial prejudice. (R797) Appellant's motion for mistrial based upon the objectionable testimony was renewed and again denied.

(R797-798)

During the testimony of Sergeant Edward O'Neil, defense counsel objected to testimony concerning Appellant's finger-prints. This objection was overruled subject to the State connecting up the evidence later on during the proceedings.

(R805-807) Also at the penalty phase, Appellant objected to a document being admitted into evidence based upon the contention that it was not exemplified. (R811-812) This objection was also overruled and the evidence was admitted.

During closing argument by the State at the penalty phase, Appellant objected to the prosecutor arguing Appellant's lack of remorse. A motion for mistrial on this ground was denied. (R821-823)

Following deliberation, the jury returned with a nine to three recommendation for death. (R80-81,839-843)

On June 6, 1986, the Appellant appeared for sentencing on the three non-capital offenses. Defense counsel objected to a separate sentencing proceeding but was overruled. (R849-853) A sentencing guideline scoresheet was prepared resulting in a recommended guideline sentence of life imprisonment. (R96)

Defense counsel objected to portions of the scoresheet based upon numerous contentions. (R855-864,884-887)

At sentencing, Appellant presented testimony from a guard at the St. Johns County Jail which revealed that he was an outstanding inmate and was responsible on four separate occasions for quelling possible disturbances in the jail. (R868)

The State requested that the trial court depart and sentence the Appellant to consecutive life sentences on each

count. (R865) The trial court adjudicated the Appellant guilty of all three offenses and sentenced the Appellant to life imprisonment on each count to run consecutively. The trial court allowed credit for 274 days previously served only as to the kidnapping sentence. (R90-95,871-872) The trial court waived court costs. (R875-876) Defense counsel objected that the consecutive nature of the sentences resulted in a departure without written reasons. This objection was overruled. (R874-876) Defense counsel also contended that the imposition of a life sentence under the guidelines violated Appellant's constitutional guarantee of equal protection. (R859-861)

Appellant's timely motion for a new trial was subsequently denied. (R87,887-888)

The Appellant appeared for sentencing on the capital offense on June 19, 1986. Appellant renewed his objections to several of the aggravating circumstances. The trial court adjudicated the Appellant guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced him to death. In doing so, the trial court found seven aggravating circumstances and one mitigating circumstance. (R144-148,881-899)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on June 26, 1986. (R149,151) This brief follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### GUILT PHASE

Beverly St.George left her home in Plant City at approximately 8:00 a.m. on August 11, 1985. She had approximately \$200.00 in cash. Before leaving the house, she put her bills in a wallet, which she then placed in a black purse. Ms. St. George's intended destination was Quantico, Virginia for the purpose of a child custody hearing on August 13. Her planned route consisted of Interstate-4 to Interstate-95. Her 1968 green Plymouth had recently suffered from overheating problems. (R446-449)

On the morning of August 12, 1985, the body of Beverly St. George was found in Pellicer Creek Cemetery, in St. John's County, Florida. Ms. St. George was wearing blue jeans, tennis shoes, and knee-high hose. Several beer cans, a leather purse strap, and a Remington .22 shell casing was found nearby. The body had a wound to the lower left forehead and a second wound to the left cheek. (R415-431)

An autopsy revealed that Ms. St.George had died during the early morning hours of August 12, 1985. She died as a result of two gunshot wounds to her head. The wound to the cheek was a contact wound, that is, one resulting from discharge of a firearm at close range. (R437-438) The medical examiner was unable to determine the sequence of the two wounds. Either shot would have caused her death. The doctor opined that Ms. St.George would have died in a matter of seconds after the first shot. At any rate, she would have been rendered immediately unconscious.

Other than the two gunshot wounds, Ms. St.George had suffered only a scratch on her right thumb. There was no evidence of any other injury. Although sperm was present, there was no injury to her vagina. There was also no evidence of alcohol in her blood, although the contents of her stomach were not examined. The medical examiner admitted that it was possible that the results of a blood alcohol test would have been different, if the blood sample had been taken from another part of her body. The doctor believed that the gun was in contact with Ms. St.George's cheek when it was fired. (R454-464) The wound to the forehead was caused by discharge of a gun that was six inches to two feet away from the skin. (R465)

On August 17, 1985, Deputy Glen Lightsey arrested

Johnny Leartice Robinson, the Appellant, at Charlie T's Truck

Stop, as Deputy Clarence Smith arrested Clinton Bernard Field, a

black juvenile. Both were traveling in Appellant's car. Lightsey

advised the Appellant of his constitutional rights at the scene

and transported him to the criminal investigation unit at the St.

John's Sheriff's Office in order to interview him. (R480-484)

The Appellant cooperated with law enforcement authorities from

the outset. He signed a rights waiver form at three o'clock that

afternoon and a second one at approximately six o'clock that

evening. Detective Charles West interviewed the Appellant before

eventually reducing Robinson's statement to three pages of

written detail. (R524-539)

Under oath, Robinson told Detective West that he had been at a party in Orange Mills throughout Sunday evening. He

had been drinking Hennessy Cognac, some gin or vodka, as well as a quantity of beer. He left the party at approximately 11:30 p.m. accompanied by Bernard Fields. The pair headed toward Orlando on I-95 in order to visit Appellant's girlfriend. way, they spotted a green Plymouth pulled over on the side of the Since Robinson had some mechanical expertise, he turned around and went to the woman's aid. She told him that she was simply tired and had stopped to rest. Robinson talked and joked with Ms. St. George. During the conversation, she noticed that he carried a gun and wished aloud that she had something similar to kill her ex-husband. Ms. St. George eventually accompanied Robinson and Fields in their car to Pellicer Cemetery. Once they arrived, Robinson and Ms. St. George began to engage in some consensual sexual activity on the hood of his car. During this activity, the Appellant took his gun out of his pants and placed it on the hood. Bernard expressed a desire to leave, but Robinson stated that he wanted to "...take the bitch back to the party!" She replied, "Who the fuck are you calling a (R33) Appellant told her, "Shut up whore!". (R33) bitch!" began to laugh and the woman began pawing at the Appellant. picked up the gun and tried to push her back as she pressed up against him. The gun went off accidentally and hit her in the face. When Robinson realized what had happened, he shot her He became scared when he realized the credibility problem that he would face concerning the accidental shooting of a white He drove away from the area before deciding to get rid of her belongings. He threw her pocketbook, blouse, and other

belongings out the car window. As dawn broke, he took Bernard home before heading for his own house. When he woke up the next morning, he partially destroyed the gun, using a screwdriver. He then carried the gun under the seat of his car for several days. As he was coming back from Orlando on the morning of August 17, 1985, he stopped the car on the interstate and threw the gun into the bushes. (R32-34)

There was some physical evidence that supported the Appellant's explanation that the killing was accidental. The medical examiner could not exclude the possibility that the shots were accidentally fired. (R468-469) The doctor had no idea what Ms. St.George's position was when the shots were fired. The contact wound could have been caused while Ms. St.George was moving toward the gun barrel, that is, while she was on the offensive. (R468)

At the time of his testimony, Clinton Bernard Fields, Appellant's accomplice, was awaiting sentencing following his convictions for first-degree murder, armed robbery, kidnapping, and sexual battery arising from this incident. Although he did go to trial on these charges, he avoided any possibility of a death sentence when he agreed to testify against Robinson. The only concrete promise made to Fields by the State was the prosecutor's agreement to try to obtain concurrent rather than consecutive sentences. The State also granted Fields immunity from prosecution for any other proceeding arising from his testimony or depositions. Fields admitted that he was looking and hoping for some, indeed any, benefit from the State resulting

from his testimony against Robinson. (R520-522) Additionally Fields planned to appeal his convictions and steadfastly maintained his own innocence in the affair.

For whatever reason, Bernard Fields' account of the death of Ms. St.George differed dramatically from that related under oath by the Appellant at the time of his arrest. Fields testified that the Appellant pulled out his gun as he got out of his car and walked up to Ms. St.George's car. He ordered her out of the car at gunpoint. Robinson and St. George got into the back seat of his car where he put handcuffs on her. Robinson took the woman's purse and threw it on the front seat. He ordered Fields to go through the purse, but Fields refused. Robinson then ordered Fields to drive to Charlie T's Truck Stop where Robinson took over the driving. From there Robinson drove to Pellicer Creek Cemetery where he took off the cuffs, had the woman undress and get onto the hood of the car. According to Fields, Robinson had sexual intercourse with the woman first and then ordered Fields to do likewise. Initially, Fields refused explaining that he had a steady sexual partner. However, when Robinson became angry and raised his voice, Fields feared for his life and reluctantly had intercourse with Ms. St. George. After Fields finished, Robinson once again had intercourse with the woman. (R497-502) When asked if the woman was agreeable to the sexual activity, Fields replied, "Well, in a way, she wasn't."

Fields testified that during the time that she was in their company, Ms. St.George asked on several occasions if they meant her any harm. Fields testified that he reassured her about

her safety. (R503) Fields further testified that, at the conclusion of the sexual activity, Robinson expressed his fear that the woman could identify both him and his car. Fields reportedly dismissed this possibility, pointing out that the cemetery was dark. Robinson then allegedly stated that the only way she could not make an identification was if she were dead. According to Fields, Robinson then walked up to the woman and put the gun to her cheek. Fields turned his head, heard a shot, and later saw the woman on the ground. Robinson then shot her a second time. The pair then drove to a desolate area where they burned all of Ms. St. George's property. It was at this point that Fields saw Robinson take the cash from her purse. Fields swore that he received none of the money. Fields stated that Robinson later threw the gun out of the car window somewhere along I-95. (R512)

During the entire incident, Fields considered an attempt to flee, but did not do so as a result of his alleged fear of Robinson as well as his inability to run well with one leg. He had lost a leg as a result of a motorcycle accident. (R495,505-508)

## PENALTY PHASE

The State presented evidence that the Appellant was convicted of rape in 1979 in the State of Maryland. He was sentenced to ten years and was on parole at the time of this incident. (R799-812)

Doctor Harry Krop, a clinical psychologist specializing in the forensic field, was accepted as an expert witness without objection. He examined Johnny Robinson in great detail during a three hour period on March 4, 1986. He found Johnny to be somewhat depressed but cooperative and candid. Doctor Krop's examination was done at the request of defense counsel and was therefore confidential, until the defense elected to reveal the results. (R743-754)

The most significant finding of Dr. Krop concerned the fact that Johnny Robinson never knew his mother. He was raised by a man known as his father, although it was clear that he was not his biological father. The man who raised Johnny, physically abused him on a number of occasions using a large, leather strap. When Johnny was approximately ten years old, his sixty-year-old "father" married a girl who was approximately fourteen years old. This led to further difficulties and more beatings. The situation became so intolerable, Johnny ran away from home and lived on the streets. This led to antisocial activities and minor criminal offenses. He was in trouble with the law from the age of twelve. He was eventually locked up for breaking and entering at the age of thirteen. He was incarcerated in an adult prison

since, fearing a return to his home environment, he lied about his age. Since his first brush with the law, Robinson had spent approximately ten years of his life in prison. (R760-763) Dr. Krop estimated Robinson to be of low to average intelligence. (R760) Although Robinson only received six years of formal education, he later earned a GED and two years equivalency of college while in prison. (R763)

During the interview with Dr. Krop, Johnny Robinson broke down crying when he recalled the sexual abuse he received at the hands of his uncle. This abuse occurred when Johnny was approximately six years old. His uncle threatened him with violence from him as well as from his "father". He also warned Johnny that he would be labeled a "queer" if he revealed the incidents to anyone. (R763) Dr. Krop testified that familial homosexual rape is the most severe type of sexual trauma and is most likely to lead to adult criminal sexual behavior. (R766-767)

The only authority figures that Robinson had ever known had abused him. Dr. Krop testified that this frequently resulted in an antisocial personality. (R765) Dr. Krop diagnosed Johnny Robinson as suffering from a personality disorder with a sociopathic or antisocial personality. He also suffered from character as well as psychosexual disorders. This latter disorder led to Robinson becoming inappropriately involved in sexual activity. (R766)

Dr. Krop's interview also revealed that the Appellant had started drinking at approximately 9:00 p.m. that fateful

evening. He drank a cup of vodka and a pint of Canadian Mist.

While he was driving in the car he consumed a six-pack of beer.

Robinson consumed quite a bit of alcohol, particularly for

someone like him who does not drink extensively. (R764-765) Dr.

Krop was of the opinion that Robinson originally stopped his car

to help Ms. St.George. He frequently made extra money as a

mechanic. (R768) Dr. Krop was convinced that Robinson initially
had no intent to harm Ms. St.George, but the subsequent sexual
involvement and violence occurred as a result of poor judgment.

(R768)

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