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

*When a waiver is required of the defendant as to any aspect or proceeding of the trial, experience clearly teaches that it is the better procedure for the trial court to make inquiry of the defendant and to have such waiver appear of record. The matter would thus be laid to rest. <u>Id</u>. at 11.

<u>Amazon</u> was decided about two months before the trial. Appellee agrees that this matter would have been laid to rest had the court followed the better procedure suggested above. However, the defendant's personal waiver is not required so no error occurred here.

Robinson requests an evidentiary hearing be conducted to determine if he voluntarily and knowingly absented himself from the trial proceedings. The state would not oppose such action, however, we contend that an evidentiary hearing is unnecessary where the record, taken with fair inferences therefrom, demonstrate that Robinson asked to leave the courtroom. <u>See</u>, <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1986). By his actions he demonstrated actual acquiescence to the waiver by counsel. Appellant has failed to demonstrate sufficient cause for this court to overrule its decision in <u>Amazon</u>, <u>See also</u>, <u>Herzoq v.</u> <u>State</u>, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983); <u>Peede v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985). Appellant has failed to demonstrate any prejudice to him caused by his absence, therefore, any error is harmless. §924.33, Fla. Stat. (1985), <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986.

Appellant cites Hall v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984) for the proposition that a defendant must be present at all critical stages of a capital trial despite Amazon. (AB 324) However, reliance on Hall is misplaced for many reasons. First, the defendant failed to object below, barring review of this issue. Hall v. Wainwright, supra (J. Hill, specially concurring); U.S. v. Gagnon, supra, Wainwright v. Sykes, 443 U.S. 72, 97 S.Ct. 2497, 53 L.Ed.2d 594 (1977). Second, the issue is one of state law; no valid claim of a denial of due process is presented by a claim of this variety. Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574 (1884); Frank v. Magnum, 237 U.S. 309 (1915). Third, there is authority that neither general qualifications of the jury panel nor examination of a defense witness in post-verdict proceedings are critical stages in the trial. Frank v. Magnum, supra; Howard v. Kentucky, 200 U.S. 164 (1906); Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 872

- 7 -

(Fla. 1982); <u>U.S. v. Redd</u>, 759 F.2d 699 (9th Cir. 1985). A critical stage is one in which a defendant's absence might frustrate the fairness of the proceedings. <u>U.S. v. Stratton</u>, 649 F.2d 1066 (5th Cir. 1981). Fourth, a defendant can knowingly and voluntarily waive his presence, which Robinson did here. <u>Proffitt v. Wainwright</u>, 685 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982), modified on rehearing, 706 F.2d 311 (1983). Last, even if error occurred, it was harmless. <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); <u>U.S. v. Benavides</u>, 549 F.2d 392 (5th Cir. 1977).

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT WEST'S REPLY THAT INCLUDED DETECTIVE ONE REFERENCE то A BURGLARY, IF ERROR, WAS INVITED BY DEFENSE COUNSEL'S OUESTION.

One week before Beverly St. George's murder, the murder weapon and two other firearms were stolen from Lloyd Cogburn's house in a burglary. The state had substantial evidence indicating that Robinson was both the murderer and the burglar: his car was seen by several witnesses in the vicinity of the burglary, casings at the murder scene were matched through ballistics to the stolen weapon, eyewitness testimony from Clinton Bernard Fields established that Robinson used a weapon exactly like the stolen weapon to murder Beverly St. George. To avoid the introduction of this evidence, which the defense conceded was admissible, they entered into a stipulation that Robinson fired the fatal shots. (R 21)

Appellee disagrees with appellant's assessment of this stipulation as a very important concession. (AB 29) The state was ready, willing, and able to establish these facts. Rarely does the state have eyewitness testimony, ballistics evidence and a confession. Appellant astutely acknowledged this abundant evidence, and sought to lessen its impact.

Appellant assumes that West's statement was improperly admitted into evidence. Appellee disagrees. At best, evidence of the burglary that netted the murder weapon violated the court's order to refrain from mentioning it. The burglary was concededly relevant and admissible. Appellee contends that the impropriety here is not of the same proportion or character as

- 9 -

improperly admitted testimony.

Appellant contends that he was denied a fair trial because of one word. During examination by defense counsel, Detective West was asked how could he know that a picture of a weapon depicted the murder weapon if the murder weapon was never recovered. West replied that he knew it was the same because a description of the weapon was "reported on the stolen list, the burglary list, yes, sir, we have a description of the weapon." (R 435-436)

Defense counsel objected, and at a time later provided, moved for a mistrial. (R 436, 472) However, to preserve this issue for review, appellant should have requested a curative instruction. <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982). Appellant may attempt to explain his failure to adequately preserve this issue by claiming counsel did not want to emphasize the word, however, it is equally plausible that counsel, as did the trial court, believed the jury disregarded the statement.

Even if preserved, the trial court's ruling was correct in all respects. Appellant's counsel admitted that he objected to the single word "burglary". (R 472) The court concluded that the jury did not hear the word, and even if they had, any error was harmless. (R 473) The court also found that the comment was invited by defense counsel's question: ". . .you were asking him how he knew that that was the type of gun that had been fired, and he was trying to explain to you how he knew. So . . . although ordinarily improper . . . it was invited by defense counsel." (R 473) <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); White v. State, 466 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1984); McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1041 (1980); Francois v. Wainwright, 741 F.2d 1275 (11th Cir. 1984). The trial court's ruling in this regard was entirely proper. Appellant cannot sustain his burden of demonstrating this action was a palpable abuse of discretion. Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1985). Motion for mistrial should be granted only when further time and expense would be wasteful, if not futile, only in cases of absolute necessity. Johnsen v. State, 332 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1976); Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978). One single word cannot be of such character as to vitiate the entire proceedings and render the trial fundamentally unfair, especially here, where no request for curative instruction was made and the remark was invited by defense counsel. See, Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986).

Appellee contends that this statement was not evidence of a collateral crime. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 589, 590 (Fla. November 13, 1986). The evidence was not introduced to establish any element of the crime charged, but was relevant to the issue of possession of the murder weapon. If evidence tending to show the commission of another crime is relevant or admissible for any other purpose, it is admissible. <u>Medina v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985).

Appellant is unable to show that he was prejudiced by this remark because subsequent evidence, also received without objection, established that appellant was a suspect in a burglary. After he was arrested, Robinson personally filled out

- 11 -

two waiver of rights forms, one of which indicates that he was being questioned in reference to a burglary. (R 29, 531) The word "burglary" is in his own handwriting. The admission into evidence of this form renders any error harmless. In <u>Johnston v.</u> <u>State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 585, 587 (Fla. November 13, 1986), this court recently faced a similar question. This honorable court stated, "Reference to (marijuana possession at arrest) was hardly prejudicial in light of subsequent evidence regarding appellant's heavy drug usage on the evening in question." <u>Id</u>. at 587. It is not improper, and any error is harmless.

POINT III

THE DEFENSE FAILED TO SUSTAIN THEIR BURDEN OF PRODUCTION TO WARRANT AN INSTRUCTION ON THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION.

Appellee agrees that voluntary intoxication is an affirmative defense to specific intent crimes such as first degree murder, robbery and kidnapping. Linehan v. State, 476 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1985); Gardner v. State, 480 So.2d 91 (Fla. 1985). Appellee defense request acknowledges the for the instruction was submitted in writing and denied by the trial court. (R 36) Defense counsel objected at the close of the instruction, after the jury retired. (R 700) The motion for new trial included (R 88) However, the trial court's ruling was this ground. correct because appellant failed to produce some evidence of acute intoxication.

The only physical evidence of intoxication presented during the guilt phase consisted of three Old Milwaukee beer cans found at the scene of the crime. (R 423, 433) Clinton Bernard Fields, the eyewitness to and participant in the murder, testified that earlier in the evening he saw Robinson drinking from a pint of Hennessy cognac, but Robinson walked and talked fine, drove the car and appeared normal. (R 497-498) Besides Robinson's statement wherein he claimed to have consumed unspecified amounts of cognac, gin and beer, the only other evidence of intoxication was presented during the penalty phase. Appellee contends that none of Dr. Krop's testimony can be relied upon to establish intoxication because Dr. Krop did not testify during the guilt phase. Appellant does not call this court's attention to any other evidence in the record to establish this affimative defense. Appellee contends that this evidence was insufficient to establish the level of intoxication necessary for this defense. Even assuming that Fields did not drink any of the three beers, ² and assuming Robinson drank each beer in rapid succession, he could have probably passed a breathalizer test. The level of intoxication necessary for an intoxication defense is much greater than mere impairment.

In <u>Linehan</u>, this court made it clear that evidence of alcohol consumption does not mandate giving this instruction. "Where the evidence shows the use of intoxicants but does not show intoxication, the instruction is not required." <u>Id</u>. at 1264. The instruction is not required here because the appellant demonstrated, at best, only the use of intoxicants. Appellant did not sustain his burden of production to establish any evidence of intoxication to any degree, much less intoxication to the degree that he was unable to form the specific intent required to commit these offenses.

Appellant complains that there was some evidence to support the theory, and therefore, the trial court usurped the jury's duty to weigh the sufficiency of the evidence by denying the requested instruction. Gardner, supra. Appellant fails to recognize must produce evidence of that he some acute intoxication, not just consumption of alcohol. This evidence

²The medical examiner tesified there was no alcohol in Beverly St. George's blood. (R 460).

must be sufficient to sustain his burden of proof. <u>Linehan</u>, <u>supra</u>. The function of the trial court is to determine whether as a matter of law, the defense has sustained his burden of production. Here, the trial court correctly concluded that the defense did not sustain their burden.

In <u>Gardner</u>, this honorable Court reversed the judgment and sentence because the trial court did not instruct the jury on the defense of voluntary intoxication. However, in <u>Gardner</u>, there was much more evidence of intoxication. On the day of the murder, Gardner drank two or three quarts of beer, as well as smoked several high potency marijuana cigarettes. There was testimony that Gardner "looked high". In this case, the witness testified Robinson walked, talked, and appeared fine. No marijuana was smoked by Fields or Robinson. In <u>Gardner</u>, this court stated:

> have We held that jury instructions regarding intoxication need not be given in every case in which evidence has been adduced at trial that the defendant had consumed alcoholic beverages prior to the commission of the offense. It is not error to refuse such an instruction when there is no evidence of the amount of alcohol consumed during the hours preceeding the crime and no evidence that the defendant was intoxicated. Id. at 93.

The trial court correctly concluded that there was no evidence presented of intoxication to the degree that Robinson was unable to form the specific intent necessary to commit the crimes charged. <u>Hooper v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985). Appellant was able to provide a detailed account of the crime. <u>Buford v.</u> <u>State</u>, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981); <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1986). No error occurred.

POINT IV

THE ISSUE OF THE PROPRIETY OF THE TRIAL COURT'S INTERRUPTON OF CLOSING ARGUMENT IS NOT PRESERVED AND IS NOT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

During defense counsel's closing argument, the trial court interrupted him and said, "Mr. Pearl, we'll not refer to tricks. Fair argument of counsel by either side are not tricks." (R 644) Defense counsel responded, "Thank you, your Honor. I withdraw the comment. I have been properly chastised and I apologize." (R 644) Robinson contends this exchange rendered his trial fundamentally unfair.

Appellant concedes that this issue is not preserved by objection, and agrees that counsel "probably acquiesced" in the court's action. (AB 39) Appellee contends that this issue is waived by lack of preservation. <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1986).

Appellant argues that his lack of preservation should be excused because an objection would have been futile and because the error was fundamental.

An objection and request for curative instruction would have allowed the trial court to immediately correct any perceived error. Since appellant considers the judge "the vortex of the entire judicial proceedings" (AB 37), then an explanation from him to the jury in the form of a curative instruction would have dissipated any wisp of error.

Appellee contends that counsel chastised himself; the judge only interrupted an argument that even he concedes was improper. To suggest that he was not the only one engaging in improper argument clouds the issue. If he took umbrage at any

- 16 -

prosecutorial argument, he should (and did) object. Furthermore, at other times, the trial court welcomed or praised defense counsel, and "chastised" the prosecutor. (R 199, 202, 580, 616, 665, 797) As part of the instructions, the trial court told the jury to disregard anything he said or did that made the them think he preferred one verdict over another. (R 73, 693) This cured any potential error caused by interrupting defense counsel's closing argument.

This issue does not present an error of fundamental proportions. Fundamental error is error of such a magnitude that it would have prevented the jury from reaching a fair and impartial verdict. <u>White v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984). Robinson has failed to establish that fundamental error occurred here.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS WERE PROPER, OR IF IMPROPER, HARMLESS.

Appellant contends in this first point concerning the sentence that the prosecutor impermissibly injected argument concerning nonstatutory aggravating factors on two occasions: by arguing that Robinson showed no remorse, and during crossexamination, by asking about racial prejudice.

This issue is not preserved by specific, timely objection. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 487 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1986); <u>Steinhorst v.</u> <u>State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Different grounds for reversal are argued on appeal than were presented to the trial court. Although apellant's trial counsel objected, it was not until after the evidence was admitted upon which the comments were based that he posed an objection. Therefore, the objection was untimely and inspecific, and failed to preserve the issue.

Appellee contends that the two comments complained of herein are both proper comments on the evidence as it existed before the jury. <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1986); U.S. v. Fogg, 651 F.2d 551 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 905, 102 S.Ct. 1751, 721 L.Ed.2d 162 (1982). The first allegedly impermissible comment was, "He showed no remorse, according to Dr. Krop." (emphasis added) (R 821) The trial court correctly ruled that this argument was commenting on unobjected to testimony, and was proper. (R 780) The second comment was during the cross-examination of Dr. Krop. Appellant claims the prosecutor "suddenly" asked if Robinson racially was

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